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DECISION OF THE COMMISSIONER
Statement of the Case
Lionel Brown, Petitioner, appeals the decision of the Board of Trustees of Austin Independent School District, Respondent, denying his various grievances regarding his employment.

Motions to Dismiss, or in the alternative, Motions for More Definite Statement and for Summary Judgment were filed by Respondent.  Petitioner filed his opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, affidavits to support his position, and a brief in support of his opposition.  A prehearing conference for the purpose of clarifying the issues and arguing Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was held on October 7, 1985 before Rebecca M.  Elliott, the Hearing Officer appointed by the State Commissioner of Education.  Petitioner appeared pro se.  Respondent appeared and was represented by James R.  Raup, Attorney at Law, Austin, Texas.

On January 30, 1986, the Hearing Officer issued a Proposal for Decision recommending to the State Commissioner of Education that Petitioner's appeal be denied in part and dismissed in part.  Our records reflect that a copy of the Proposal for Decision was received by both parties.  Petitioner filed exceptions to the Proposal for Decision on February 21, 1986.  Respondent's reply to Petitioner's exceptions was filed on March 4, 1986.

Findings of Fact
Pursuant to Rule 166-A(c), Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, after due consideration of the various pleadings, affidavits, motions, stipulations of the parties, and documents offered in support of the parties' respective positions, in my capacity as State Commissioner of Education, I perceive the following facts to be undisputed and adopt them as Findings of Fact:

1.  Petitioner was employed by Respondent under a one-year written contract as a "professional employee" for the 1984-85 school year.  (See Pet.  Ex.  A-10, attached to his affidavit in support of his opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment).

2.  Respondent's policy 4114 IX, page 11 of 37, contains the following assignment clause:

Assignment by the Superintendent

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary or anything contained in any contract issued to any professional, all professionals shall be subject to assignment or reassignment by the superintendent as to professional duties within their field of certification, licensing, or specialization and as to location of school or other District facility.

(See Pet.  Ex.  A-12, p.  11, attached to his affidavit in support of his opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment).

3.  Petitioner's 1984-85 contract contained the following assignment clause:

The professional employee employed hereunder shall be subject to assignment or reassignment by the Superintendent of Austin Independent School District.

(See Pet.  Ex.  A-10, attached to his affidavit in support of his opposition to Resp's Mot.  for Sum.  Judg.).

Petitioner's 1984-85 contract also contained the following clause regarding Respondent's policies:

This contract and the employment hereunder are specifically made subject to the policies, rules and regulations and amendments thereto of the Austin Independent School District which are in effect at the time or may hereafter be adopted by the Board of Trustees during the life of this contract.

(See Pet.  Ex.  A-10).

4.  Petitioner's 1984-85 contract was for service as a professional employee without specific designation of special duties.  (See Pet.  Ex.  A-10).

5.  During the 1983-84 school year, Petitioner was assigned as a "Teacher Trainer" in PROJECT PASS, a program which was designed to provide educational enrichment to black students.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  2).

6.  During the 1984-85 school year, the Project Pass program was restructured and renamed Project Teach and Reach.  Petitioner was assigned during that year to be a "Basic Skills Teacher" in the Project Teach and Reach Program.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  2).

7.  Petitioner's salary in both the 1983-84 and 1984-85 assignment was the same as a regular classroom teacher of like education and experience.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  2)

8.  During the 1984-85 school year, the chairperson of the Advisory Board of Project Teach and Reach complained that Petitioner was not supportive or understanding of the program and that he was deliberately attempting to disrupt the Advisory Board meetings.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, pp.  2-3).

9.  In February 1985, Petitioner was notified of his immediate reassignment to a position as a fifth grade teacher at Cunningham Elementary School.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  3).

10.  The reassignment was within Petitioner's area of certification.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  4)

11.  As a Basic Skills teacher in Project Teach and Reach, Petitioner supplemented various regular classroom teachers' efforts to teach basic skills, but did not have primary responsibility for instruction, and did not have a classroom of his own.  Petitioner was also responsible for preparing materials, coordinating his lessons with the regular teachers' instructional plan for the students, setting up demonstrations with publishers, and securing and developing math and reading materials for the students.  Other duties included developing a "Testing and Research Program" to determine what essential skills tested on the ITBS needed improvement, substituting for teachers who were late to work or who had to leave early during the day, popping popcorn for the students, and tutoring in the AISD tutorial program.  He had no assigned classroom.  (See Affidavits of John Ellis, p.  4 and Lionel Brown, p.  3).

12.  As a fifth grade teacher at Cunningham Elementary School, Petitioner was assigned a classroom of his own and various groups of students for whose instruction he was primarily responsible.  Petitioner was totally responsible for teaching, assessing and reporting the grades of his students.  (See Affidavit of John Ellis, p.  4).

13.  Before his reassignment, Petitioner's rate of pay during the 1984-85 school year was P-6, step 10 for an annual salary of $27,868.  (See Affidavit of Wray Plicque, p.  1).

14.  On August 6, 1985, Wray Plicque, Assistant Director of Personnel, sent Petitioner a letter advising Petitioner that he was being classified as a "surplus teacher." The letter advised Petitioner that he would be reassigned prior to the beginning of the 1985-86 school year.  The surplus teacher status is used to reassign teachers so that in situations involving declining enrollment, jobs will not be lost due to a reduction in force.  (See Affidavit of Wray Plicque, pp.  1-2).

15.  On August 12, 1985, Plicque notified Petitioner by letter that he was no longer a surplus teacher and would be assigned to Cunningham for the 1985-86 school year.  (See Affidavit of Wray Plicque, p.  2).

16.  Petitioner is currently teaching at Cunningham under a one year term contract and being paid at the rate of P-6, step 10 for an annual salary of $30,250.00.  (See Affidavit of Wray Plicque, p.  1).

Discussion
Under §157.44 of the Agency's Rules on Hearings Before the Commissioner of Education and the State Board of Education, Petitioner is required to file a Petition for Review which identifies the ruling, action or failure to act complained of, and to state what action he wishes the Commissioner to take, and finally, to state why he is entitled to the relief he requests.  Further, the rule states:

It shall not be sufficient for the petitioner to allege generally that the petitioner's rights have been violated pursuant to a particular state or federal statute, constitutional provision, or local school board policy.  The petitioner must clearly set forth facts of which petitioner is aware or which the petitioner believes to be true, which would lead to a reasonable conclusion that the petitioner's rights might have been violated in such a way that entitles the petitioner to relief from the Commissioner.

Petitioner has failed for the most part to comply with this requirement.

After receiving Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, or in the alternative, Motion for a More Definite Statement regarding Petitioner's allegations, a prehearing conference was held in order to allow Petitioner to state more fully his complaint before the Agency.  The better part of one afternoon was spent trying to determine exactly what Petitioner was alleging and on what authority he was relying.  The Hearing Officer repeatedly asked Petitioner to indicate what particular statute, provision, or rule he was alleging had been violated or what particular actions of Respondent were involved.  At best, Petitioner's allegations were vague and at times contradictory.

Section 157.22 of the Agency's Rules regarding the dismissal of a complaint without a hearing specifically indicates that "failure of a party requesting relief from the commissioner to set forth facts in its pleadings which would support a decision in that party's favor" is grounds for dismissing the appeal without a hearing.  Accordingly, the following causes of action alleged by Petitioner should be dismissed for failing to allege facts which would support his claim:

(1) That Respondent violated the Rules of 19 Tex.  Admin.  Code §61.231-254, and Tex.  Rev.  Civ.  Stat.  Ann.  §6252-13a (Vernon Supp.  1986) (Administrative Procedure and Texas Register Act (APTRA)) by its refusal to grant Petitioner the benefits of a trial-type hearing on his grievances.

(2) That Respondent violated Tex.  Rev.  Civ.  Stat.  Ann.  §6252-17 (Vernon Supp.  1986) (Open Meetings Act) by its failure to unlock a door so that Petitioner's witness could attend his grievance hearing.

(3) That Respondent dismissed and demoted Petitioner during mid term of the 1984-85 school year in violation of the terms and conditions of the oral and implied contracts he held with the personnel director to the effect that Petitioner would be given an opportunity to approve any new assignment.

(4) That Respondent deprived Petitioner of property and liberty and stigmatized Petitioner when he was dismissed and demoted by the change in assignment and by the letter written by members of the advisory board to the administration regarding his performance in Project Teach and Reach.

(5) That Respondent manufactured for political and personal reasons, charges against Petitioner which are void of truth, fact, or legal basis.

(6) That Respondent denied Petitioner's request for "all information, memos, notes, letters, reports, files, correspondences [sic], etc., concerning Lionel Brown as a teacher, employee, etc., in Austin Independent School District at any and all schools worked and visited, to be used by Petitioner in defense of rights violations, due process violations and contractual violations by Respondents, their Agents, Representatives, and others."

(7) That Respondent did not provide Petitioner with a grievance hearing which possessed both academic expertise and impartiality toward the charges.

(8) That Respondent infringed on Petitioner's right to freedom of speech under Tex.  Const.  art.  1, §8, U.S.  Const.  Amend.  I and XIV in terminating his employment at Rosewood Elementary and demoting him to term contract employment at Cunningham with a loss of continuous employment as a tenured professional employee at Rosewood Elementary.

(9) That Respondent violated Tex.  Educ.  Code Ann.  §21.201 - .211 (Vernon Supp.  1986) and Respondent's own policies with respect to the renewal of Petitioner's contract for only one year, for the 1985-86 school year.

(10) That Respondent treated Petitioner differently from other similarly situated employees in that he was not offered a three year contract at the end of is second probationary year of teaching with AISD and in doing so deprived Petitioner of equal protection.

(11) That Respondent violated its own policy DDA local 4114-4114.1, the laws of TEA, and the state of Texas in not granting Petitioner a three year term contract, beginning 1985-86.

(12) That the failure of Respondent to award Petitioner a three year contract was a breach of his contract and was arbitrary, capricious, not supported by substantial evidence, made in bad faith, and unlawful.

(13) That Respondent consciously conspired to violate Petitioner's right to procedural due process, his rights under U.S.  Const.  Amend I, V, and XIV and 42 U.S.C.  1983, and his rights under Tex.  Const.  art.  1 §19.

(14) That Respondent acted under color of state law to punish Petitioner for the exercise of his right to free speech.

(15) That Respondent hired Petitioner's replacement at Rosewood in violation of its own policies.

There are three causes of action raised by Petitioner which remain for consideration:

(1) Petitioner was reassigned in violation of his contract and in violation of AISD policy.

(2) Petitioner was demoted by his classification as a surplus teacher.

(3) Petitioner was demoted without cause by Respondent by the change in assignment from Rosewood to Cunningham Elementary School.

All three issues can be resolved on the basis of the undisputed facts in this case and without need for a hearing.

First, Petitioner's reassignment to Cunningham Elementary School was not in violation of his contract with Respondent.  Petitioner was hired as a "professonal" with no specific designation of duties.  (See Finding of Fact No.  4).  Petitioner alleges that his contract included not only the formal "Probationary Contract" which he signed on May 25, 1984, but also a letter of assignment which was dated August 20, 1984 and stated that his assignment was to Rosewood Elementary School - - Project Teach and Reach.  (See Pet.  Ex.  A11, attached to affidavit in support of his opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment).  However, there is no basis, other than Petitioner's own assertions, that the assignment letter is a part of the employment contract.  Further, there is no indication that the assignment letter was meant to replace the contract signed by Petitioner in May 1984.  The contract submitted by Petitioner in support of his Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment on its face and unambiguously contains a "subject to reassignment" clause.  (See Finding of Fact No.  3).  Clearly, Petitioner had a contract to teach; where he would teach was at the discretion of Respondent.  Similarly, Respondent's policy 4114 IX made Petitioner subject to reassignment within his field of "certification, licensing, or specialization and as to location of school or other district facility." (See Finding of Fact No.  2).  Petitioner's contract made him subject to Respondent's policies.  (See Finding of Fact No.  3).  One can only conclude that the prohibition against reassignment by Petitioner is unfounded and exists only in the mind of Petitioner.

Petitioner next alleges to the Commissioner that he was demoted by Respondent by his classification on August 6, 1985 by the district's assistant director of personnel as a "surplus teacher." The merits of this issue need not be addressed as Petitioner's surplus status lasted only seven days.  (See Findings of Fact Nos.  14, 15) and Petitioner is now assigned a position at Cunningham Elementary School (See Finding of Fact No.  16).  In the absence of any allegation that the "surplus status" remains on Petitioner's employment record, this portion of the appeal should be dismissed as moot for there is no further relief which can be given by the Commissioner.

Finally, Petitioner claims he was demoted by Respondent without cause by the change in assignment from Rosewood to Cunningham Elementary School.  Before the appropriateness of the action by Respondent is considered, it must first be determined that the transfer did in fact result in a demotion to Petitioner.

Black's Law Dictionary, Fifth Edition, defines "demotion" as "[a] reduction to lower rank or grade, or to lower type of position." Guardian Trust Co.  v.  Bauereisen, 121 S.W.20 579, 583 (Tex.  1938) addresses a similar question with regard to a change in duties of a general manager under contract.  In that early case, the court described the changes in duties which are not permissible by an employer of an employee under contract as "material changes." In determining whether material changes have been made in Petitioner's contractual duties, or if he has been reduced to a lower rank or grade, consideration should be given to any differences between the assignments.  Differences resulting in reduced salary, responsibility, authority, status, or skill required to perform the assigned duties would indicate the district's actions in reassigning went beyond the scope of its "right to reassign" and such a demotion would have to be justified.

Before reassignment, Petitioner's duties at Rosewood Elementary School were not those of a regular classroom teacher.  Petitioner supplemented the classroom teachers' efforts to teach basic skills to children whose ITBS scores indicated a deficiency in those areas tested.  (See Finding of Fact No.  11).  He had no responsibility for the overall instruction of the class, and did not have a classroom of his own.  (See Finding of Fact No.  11).  His responsibility to determine what essential skills tested on the ITBS needed improvement, although, perhaps, unique as to the particular test reviewed, is not different from the regular classroom teacher's duty to measure the level of skill of a group of students and assess their needs so that instruction may be given where needed.  Petitioner was also used as a substitute teacher for those individuals who, for some reason, arrived late to work or had to leave early.  (See Finding of Fact No.  11).  Other duties at Rosewood listed by Petitioner included tutoring in the tutorial program and "popping popcorn for the student body." (See (Finding of Fact No.  11).

Petitioner's new assignment at Cunningham Elementary school was as a fifth grade teacher.  (See Finding of Fact No.  12).  This assignment was within his area of certification.  He was given his own classroom and responsibility for various groups of students.  He had total responsibility for their instruction, including preparation of lesson materials and reporting of grades.  (See Finding of Fact No.  12).  Although not specifically stated, for the sake of discussion, it will be assumed that Petitioner, at Cunningham, no longer has the duty of "popping popcorn" for the students.  Petitioner does not tutor at Cunningham.

Although Petitioner may have perceived his job at Rosewood to be more desirable, it clearly was not more prestiguous and he had no more responsibility or authority than at Cunningham.  The skill level required to do both jobs is comparable and within his area of certification.  If different at all, the assignment to Cunningham appears to be a transfer to a more highly regarded position than to a lesser one.  The new duties place more personal responsibility on Petitioner for the achievement of his students, rather than less.  He is no longer required to "cover" other teachers' classes in their absence but now has his own classroom and students to instruct.

Although Petitioner alleged in his Estimate of Lost Salary resulting from the transfer to Cunningham that he lost $512.00 as a result of the loss in tutorial duties, an undetermined amount of money resulting from his loss of an administrative position, and $4,500 from his failure to be placed on Level 4 of the teacher career ladder, Petitioner provided no support or evidence of any entitlement to the lost money.  No teacher in the State was eligible for placement on level four of the career ladder during the 1984-85 school year.  Acts 1984, 68th Leg., 2nd C.S., p 354, ch.  28, art.  III, part A, §5 (House Bill 72) directs that, for the 1984-85 school year, a teacher must be placed on level one or level two only.  Any placement of Petitioner on level four of the career ladder is, at this point, at best, a mere hope or expectancy.

The alleged loss of an administrator's salary is also unfounded.  Petitioner's 1984-85 contract was as a "professional employee" (See Finding of Fact No.  1) without specific designation of special duties (See Finding of Fact No.  4), and his salary was the same as that of a regular classroom teacher of like education and experience.  (See Finding of Fact No.  7).  There is no indication that Petitioner was ever hired to be an administrator.

Finally, Petitioner estimates a loss of $512 as a result of the loss of tutorial duties.  While Petitioner may have enjoyed the monetary benefits of tutoring as a supplemental duty to his teaching at Rosewood, he has not produced any evidence of any entitlement to the extra money.  Again, Petitioner's salary in his 1984-85 assignment was the same as that of a regular classroom teacher of like education and experience.  (See Finding of Fact No.  7).  Clearly, his tutoring was not a part of his contractual duties.

There being no loss in salary, responsibility, authority, status, or rank, it is concluded that Petitioner was not demoted when he was reassigned.  Further, the reassignment did not result in material changes in his job duties and was within the permissible bounds of authority under contract and AISD policy.

Conclusions of Law
After due consideration of the record, matters officially noticed, and the foregoing Findings of Fact, in my capacity as State Commissioner of Education, I make the following Conclusions of Law:

1.  The issue regarding Petitioner's claim that his classification by Respondent as a surplus teacher from August 6, 1985 through August 12, 1985 resulting in a demotion is moot as there is no further relief which can be granted by the Commissioner.

2.  The following complaints made by Petitioner do not comply with Section 157.44 of the Agency's Rules and should be DISMISSED without a hearing for failure to set forth facts which would support a decision in Petitioner's favor and pursuant to Section 157.22 of the Agency's Rules:

(1) That Respondent violated the Rules of 19 Tex.  Admin.  Code §61.231-254, and Tex.  Rev.  Civ.  Stat.  Ann.  §6252-13a (Vernon Supp.  1986) (Administrative Procedure and Texas Register Act (APTRA)) by its refusal to grant Petitioner the benefits of a trial-type hearing on his grievances;

(2) That Respondent violated Tex.  Rev.  Civ.  Stat.  Ann.  §6252-17 (Vernon Supp.  1986) (Open Meetings Act) by its failure to unlock a door so that Petitioner's witness could attend Petitioner's grievance hearing;

(3) That Respondent dismissed and demoted Petitioner during mid term of the 1984-85 school year in violation of the terms and conditions of the oral and implied contracts he held with the personnel director that Petitioner would be given an opportunity to approve any new assignment;

(4) That Respondent deprived Petitioner of property and liberty and stigmatized Petitioner when he was dismissed and demoted by the change in assignment and by the letter written by members of the advisory board to the administration regarding his performance in Project Teach and Reach;

(5) That Respondent manufactured for political and personal reasons, charges against Petitioner which are void of truth, fact, or legal basis;

(6) That Respondent denied Petitioner's request for "all information, memos, notes, letters, reports, files, correspondences [sic], etc., concerning Lionel Brown as a teacher, employee, etc., in Austin Independent School District at any and all schools worked and visited, to be used by Petitioner in defense of rights violations, due process violations and contractual violations by Respondents, their Agents, Representatives, and others";

(7) That Respondent did not provide Petitioner with a grievance hearing which possessed both academic expertise and impartiality toward the charges;

(8) That Respondent infringed on Petitioner's right to freedom of speech under Tex.  Const.  art.  1, §8, U.S.  Const.  Amend.  I and XIV in terminating his employment at Rosewood Elementary and demoting him to term contract employment at Cunningham with a loss of continuous employment as a tenured professional employee at Rosewood Elementary;

(9) That Respondent violated Tex.  Educ.  Code Ann.  §21.201 - .211 (Vernon Supp.  1986) and Respondent's own policies with respect to the renewal of Petitioner's contract for only one year, for the 1985-86 school year);

(10) Respondent treated Petitioner differently from other similarly situated employees in that he was not offered a three year contract at the end of his second probationary year of teaching with AISD and in doing so deprived Petitioner of equal protection;

(11) That Respondent violated its own policy DDA local 4114-4114.1, the laws of TEA, and the state of Texas in not granting Petitioner a three year term contract, beginning 1985-86;

(12) That the failure of Respondent to award Petitioner a three year contract was a breach of his contract and was arbitrary, capricious, not supported by substantial evidence, made in bad faith, and unlawful;

(13) Respondent consciously conspired to violate Petitioner's right to procedural due process, his rights under U.S.  Const.  Amend I, V, and XIV and 42 U.S.C.  1983, and his rights under Tex.  Const.  art.  1 §19;

(14) That Respondent acted under color of state law to punish Petitioner for the exercise of his right to free speech; and

(15) That Respondent hired Petitioner's replacement at Rosewood in violation of its own policies.

3.  Petitioner's assignment to Cunningham Elementary School during the 1984-85 school year was a lawful exercise of Respondent's right to reassign Petitioner under both AISD policy and Petitioner's contract.

4.  Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, paragraph II, as it relates to the propriety of Petitioner's reassignment under contract and AISD policy, should be GRANTED.

O R D E R
After due consideration of the record, matters officially noticed, and the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, in my capacity as Hearing Officer, it is hereby

ORDERED that this appeal be DISMISSED as moot in regard to the issues set forth in Conclusion of Law No.  1; DISMISSED for failure to set forth facts which would support a decision in Petitioner's favor on those issues set forth in Conclusion of Law No.  2; and, DENIED in all other respects.

SIGNED AND ENTERED this 17th day of September, 1986.

_______________________

W.  N.  KIRBY

COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION

DOCKET NO.  204-R2-885

LIONEL BROWN
§
BEFORE THE STATE


§



§


V.
§



§
COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION


§


AUSTIN INDEPENDENT
§


SCHOOL DISTRICT
§
THE STATE OF TEXAS

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR REHEARING
BE IT KNOWN that on this date came on for consideration Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing and Respondent's Reply in the above-styled and numbered matter; and, after due consideration, it is accordingly

ORDERED that Petitioner's motion be, and is hereby, DENIED.

SIGNED AND ENTERED the 4th day of November, 1986.

_______________________

W.  N.  KIRBY

COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION
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